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CIVIL ACTION NO. 
1:21-cv-3329-AT 

 
Plaintiffs, 

 
v. 
 
STEVEN D. PEYROUX, individually 
and as an owner and officer of 
REGENERATIVE MEDICINE 
INSTITUTE OF AMERICA, LLC, also 
d/b/a Stem Cell Institute of America, 
LLC, PHYSICIANS BUSINESS 
SOLUTIONS, LLC, and SUPERIOR 
HEALTHCARE, LLC, 
 
BRENT J. DETELICH, individually 
and as an officer of REGENERATIVE 
MEDICINE INSTITUTE OF 
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ORDER  GRANTING  
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There are fi ve Defendants: 3 corporate Defendants and two individual 

Defendants, as shown below: 

Corporate Defendants Individual Defendants 
• Superior Healthcare, LLC • Steven Peyroux 

("Superior") 
• Brent Detelich 

• Physicians Business Solutions, LLC 
("Physicians Business") 

• Regenerative Medicine Institute of 
America, LLC d/b/a Stem Cell 
Institute of America LLC ("SCIA") 

Two of the corporate Defendants (Superior and SCIA) have been through 

bankruptcy proceedings. (Summary Judgment Order, Doc. 132 at 9).2 Physicians 

Business remains operational. Peyroux and Detelich currently hold interests in 

several other healthcare companies. (Id.) 

II. RELEVANTFINDINGS 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this case pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), t5hold 02ase 
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conditions, including osteoarthritis, arthritis, neuropathy, plantar 

fasciitis, joint pain, and pain resulting from injuries or aging  

7. 
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11. The State of Georgia has authority under the GFBPA to seek restitution on 

behalf of consumers as well as 
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(2) . . . upon a showing by the Attorney General in any superior court3 
of competent jurisdiction that a person has violated 
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deceptive acts. (See Summary Judgment Order, Doc. 132 at 65-66).4 This 

additional  penalty may be assessed in  an amount up to $10,000  per violation,  see 

§ 10-1-851, and may be assessed in  addition  to any civil  penalty otherwise imposed. 

(See Summary Judgment Order, Doc. 132 at 65-66).  

 APPROPRIATE RELIEF IN THIS CASE  

Under the above relief  provisions, 
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In total, the State seeks $14,430,000 in civil penalties from all three remaining 

Defendants and $3,350,416 in restitution from Defendants Peyroux and Detelich  

�²  for a total of $17,780,416. (MSJ, Doc. 73-1 at 33�±34.) 

Defendants object to this amount, arguing  that the Court should consider 

their ability (or inability) to pay; that the State has not sufficiently supported its 

restitution amount; that the amount sought for civil penalties is disproportionate 

to the number of victims affected; and that they did not int entionally target elderly 

victims. ( See generally Peyroux Obj., Doc. 142-1; Detelich Obj., Doc. 144). The 

Court addresses the appropriate scope of relief below.  

 Restitution   

To repeat, O.C.G.A. § 10-1-397(b)(2)(D)  authorizes the Court to award to the 

Attorney General �³�>�U�@�H�V�W�L�W�X�W�L�R�Q to any person or persons adversely affected by a 

�G�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�¶�V���D�F�W�L�R�Q�V�´���L�Q���Y�L�R�O�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���W�K�H���*�)�%�3�$�����Z�K�H�Q���V�X�F�K���U�H�V�W�L�W�X�W�L�R�Q���Z�R�X�O�G���E�H���L�Q��

�W�K�H�� �S�X�E�O�L�F�� �L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�� �D�Q�G�� �³whether or not any person has actually been misled.�´��

O.C.G.A. § 10-1-397(b)(2)(D)  (emphasis added). �5�H�V�W�L�W�X�W�L�R�Q���P�H�D�Q�V���³a restoration 

�R�I���V�R�P�H�W�K�L�Q�J���W�R���L�W�V���U�L�J�K�W�I�X�O���R�Z�Q�H�U�´��or 
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Here, the State of Georgia seeks restitution for the 485 consumers who 

purchased stem cell injections from Defendant Superior at the total cost of 

$3,350,416. (See Bae Decl., Doc. 78-16 ¶ 16; Superior Customer List, Doc. 94-14).  

The Individual Defendants present two arguments in opposition to the 
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Upon review, the Court finds that the Individual Defendants�¶�� �H�Y�L�G�H�Q�F�H��

establishes that Superior paid refunds to six consumers in the total amount of 

$40,270. ( Id .) Accordingly, the Court will deduct that amount from the total 

restitution amount. After subtracting the refund amount, the Court finds that the 

appropriate restitution amount is $3,310,146. The Court ORDERS  that the 

Attorney General shall
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that  a single deceptive act or practice is considered a violation of the statute. See 

O.C.G.A. § 10-1-393; Zeeman v. Black, 273 S.E.2d 910, 916 (acknowledging that  �³�D 

single instance of an unfair  or deceptive act or �S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�´ is a violation  of the 

GFBPA).  So a single misrepresentation  �² for  example, a statement saying that  a 

product  has benefits that  it  does not in  fact have �²  is a �³�Y�L�R�O�D�W�L�R�Q�´ of the statute. 

O.C.G.A. § 10-1-393(b)(5).   

Courts interpreting  similar  state consumer protection  statutes have also 

consistently found that  each dissemination  of the same misleading advertisement 

can constitute  a separate violation.  See, e.g., State ex rel.  Wilson v. Ortho -McNeil -

Janssen Pharm.,  Inc., 777 S.E.2d 176, 203 (S.C. 2015) (finding  that  each letter  sent 

out was a separate violation,  and that  each sample box ad was a separate violation) ; 

United  States v. Reader's Dig.  Ass'n, Inc., 662 F.2d 955, 959�±60 (3d Cir. 1981) 

(upholding finding that each o f 17,940,521 mailings constituted a separate 

violation of consent order under FTC Act); State v. Menard,  Inc. , 358 N.W.2d 813, 

815 (Wis. Ct. App. 1984) (�F�R�Q�V�L�G�H�U�L�Q�J�� �³�H�D�F�K�� �S�X�E�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�� �R�I�� �D�Q�� �D�G�Y�H�U�W�L�V�H�P�H�Q�W�´�� �L�Q��

each newspaper or other medium a separate violation of Wisconsin consumer 

protection law); �6�W�D�W�H���Y�����/�$���,�Q�Y�¶�U�V�����/���/���&., 410 P. 3d 1183 (Wash. Ct. App. 2018) 

(finding that each of the 256,998 mailings sent out to consumers was a separate 

violation); People v. Johnson & Johnson, 292 Cal. Rptr. 3d 424, 472-473 (Cal. Ct. 

 
other state consumer protection  laws include similar language allowing the particular 
�V�W�D�W�H�¶�V���D�W�W�R�U�Q�H�\���J�H�Q�H�U�D�O���W�R���U�H�F�R�Y�H�U���I�R�U���S�H�Q�D�O�W�L�H�V���³�S�H�U���Y�L�R�O�D�W�L�R�Q���´���Z�L�W�K�R�X�W���H�[�S�O�L�F�L�W�O�\���G�H�I�L�Q�L�Q�J��
�³�Y�L�R�O�D�W�L�R�Q���´����See id. at 72 & n.31). 
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App. 2022) (upholding finding that each separate marketing communication 

constituted a separate violation); People v First Fed. Credit Corp., 128 Cal. Rptr.2d 

542 (Cal. Ct. App. 2002) (finding that each deceptive mailer sent out was a separate 

violation).   

Generally, appellate courts have determined that  trial  courts have discretion  

to determine the appropriate  way to measure the number of �³�Y�L�R�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�´ of a 

consumer protection  statute. See, e.g., Beaumont Inv. , 3 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 450�±51 

���H�[�S�O�D�L�Q�L�Q�J�� �W�K�D�W���� �Z�K�H�U�H�� �W�K�H�� �V�W�D�W�X�W�H�� �G�R�H�V�� �Q�R�W�� �G�H�I�L�Q�H�� �Y�L�R�O�D�W�L�R�Q���� �³�G�H�W�H�U�P�L�Q�L�Q�J�� �Z�K�D�W��

�T�X�D�O�L�I�L�H�V�� �D�V�� �D�� �V�L�Q�J�O�H�� �Y�L�R�O�D�W�L�R�Q�´�� �L�V�� �³�X�S�� �W�R�� �W�K�H�� �F�R�X�U�W�V�´�� �D�Q�G�� �G�H�S�H�Q�G�V�� �R�Q�� �³�W�K�H��

�F�L�U�F�X�P�V�W�D�Q�F�H�V�� �R�I�� �W�K�H�� �F�D�V�H�´������State v. Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc ., 398 P.3d 

1271, 1280 (Wash. Ct. App. 2017) (explaining that the trial court did not abuse its 

�G�L�V�F�U�H�W�L�R�Q�� �V�L�Q�F�H�� �V�W�D�W�H�� �F�R�Q�V�X�P�H�U�� �S�U�R�W�H�F�W�L�R�Q�� �D�F�W�L�R�Q�� �³�Y�H�V�W�V�� �W�K�H�� �W�U�L�D�O�� �F�R�X�U�W�� �Z�L�W�K�� �W�K�H��

�S�R�Z�H�U���W�R���D�V�V�H�V�V���D���S�H�Q�D�O�W�\���I�R�U���H�D�F�K���Y�L�R�O�D�W�L�R�Q�´������State ex rel. Corbin v. United Energy 

Corp. of Am.
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§ 10-1-393.5(d);  O.C.G.A. § 10-1-851. This provides the Court with  discretion  to 

order civil  penalties within  a confined range. See Harris  v. Mexican Specialty 

Foods, Inc., 564 F.3d 1301, 1312 (11th Cir. 2009)  (addressing different  statute, 

explaining  that  statutes which allow a court  to issue penalties �³up to�  ́proscribed 

amount grant the court  �³�V�R�P�H discretion  . . . to act within  a �U�D�Q�J�H�´����  

 Other courts assessing the appropriate  amount of civil  penalties per 

violation  of a consumer protection  statute have considered 
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determining the number of violations, the Court assesses the appropriate amount 

per violation. In assessing the penalty per violation, the Court is mindful that the 

purpose of a civil  penalty is to punish a wrongdoer for  his actions. See Penalty and 

Civil  Penalty , �%�O�D�F�N�¶�V Law Dictionary  (12th Ed. 2024). In  light  of this  purpose, the 

Court imposes different  civil  penalty amounts based on the different  conduct 

underlying  the various violations  at issue.  

As noted above, each separate dissemination of a false representation is a 

violation of the GFBPA. See O.C.G.A. § 10-1-393; Zeeman v. Black, 273 S.E.2d 910, 

916 (acknowledging that  �³�D single instance of an unfair  or deceptive act or �S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�´ 

is a violation  of the GFBPA).   

 Upon review of the full record, and with the benefit of an evidentiary 

hearing, the Court concludes that the State has put forth evidence to support four 

different types of false representations that were disseminated by Defendants in 

the following amounts : 

�x misrepresentations on �6�X�S�H�U�L�R�U�¶�V websites (available online  and 
thus disseminated to the public  for  1330 days);  
 

�x misrepresentations in  initial  Facebook advertisements 
(disseminated to the public  via at least 59 different  Facebook ads); 

  

 misrepresentations in
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Considering the above, the State has established that Defendants violated the 

GFBPA at least 1,698 times11 through the above-listed disseminations. That said, 

�'�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�V�¶�� �D�E�R�Y�H-listed violations are not all equal: some violations reflect 

serious intent to mislead consumers, while other violations involve less intent to 

mislead. Some violations resulted in more harm to consumers, others less. The 

Court therefore assesses each category of misrepresentations separately to 
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The evidence demonstrates that these Facebook ads were the first targeted 

act by which Defendants drew in consumers and began convincing them to make 

expensive stem cell purchases. In many ways, these ads were the first step in the 

swindle strategy. These disseminations are therefore more serious violations of the 

GFBPA than the passive website posting.  Accordingly, the Court awards a civil 

penalty of $2,000 for each of the 59 Facebook ads, for a total of $118,000.  

The third category of violations involves misrepresentations made in 

brochures that were sent to consumers. After consumers clicked links in the 

�)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N�� �D�G�V�� �D�Q�G�� �V�L�J�Q�H�G�� �X�S�� �I�R�U�� �V�H�P�L�Q�D�U�V���� �W�K�H�\�� �Z�R�X�O�G�� �E�H�J�L�Q�� �U�H�F�H�L�Y�L�Q�J�� �³�G�U�L�S��

�H�P�D�L�O�V���´�� ���+�H�D�U�L�Q�J�� �7�U������ �'�R�F���� �������� �S���� ���������� �7�K�H�V�H�� �³�G�U�L�S�� �H�P�D�L�O�V�´�� �L�Q�F�O�X�G�H�G�� �D�� �O�L�Q�N�� �W�R�� �D��

brochure advertising stem cell therapy. (Id .) This brochure claimed that stem cell 

�W�K�H�U�D�S�\���F�R�X�O�G���³�U�H�V�W�R�U�H���\�R�X�U���K�H�D�O�W�K���D�Q�G���K�H�O�S���\�R�X���O�L�Y�H���3�D�L�Q-�)�U�H�H�´���D�Q�G���W�K�D�W���L�W���Z�D�V���³�D��

revolutionary solution to heal cervical joint �G�H�J�H�Q�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q���´�� �D�P�R�Q�J�� �P�D�Q�\�� �R�W�K�H�U��

misleading representations. (Brochure, Doc. 95-16 at 9). The record evidence 

indicates that Defendants disseminated this brochure at least 161 times. (Hearing 

Tr., Doc. 173 p. 69; see also Brochure Download List, Doc. 159-14). These targeted 

emails �²  which linked to brochures that made  misrepresentations �²  were 

intended to further push consumers towards making the ultimate , very expensive 

purchases. �'�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�V�¶�� �G�L�V�V�H�P�L�Q�D�W�L�R�Q�V�� �R�I�� �W�K�H�V�H�� �H�P�D�L�O�V�� �D�U�H�� �F�R�P�S�D�U�D�E�O�H in 

egregiousness to the disseminations of the Facebook ads. Both were integral 

�D�V�S�H�F�W�V���R�I���'�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�V�¶���O�R�Q�J��course of deception. Accordingly, the Court awards a 

civil penalty of $2,000 for each of the 161 disseminations of the brochure 
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downloaded by consumers. As a result, the Court awards a total of $322,000 in 

civil penalties for this third category of violations.  

�7�K�H�� �I�L�Q�D�O�� �F�D�W�H�J�R�U�\�� �R�I�� �Y�L�R�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�� �F�R�Q�F�H�U�Q�V�� �'�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�V�¶�� �V�H�P�L�Q�D�U�V����As noted, 

the Facebook ads included links that allowed consumers to sign up for seminars 

that were presented across the state of Georgia. (Hearing Tr., Doc. 173 p. 62). The 
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2,155 were elderly individuals  as defined under the GFBPA, O.C.G.A. § 10-1-

850(2).  (Id .) Put simply, these seminars were designed to manipulatively 

�R�Y�H�U�F�R�P�H���F�R�Q�V�X�P�H�U�V�¶���R�E�M�H�F�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G���F�D�S�L�W�D�O�L�]�H���R�Q���W�K�H�L�U���Y�X�O�Q�H�U�D�E�O�H���F�R�Q�G�L�W�L�R�Q�V�� The 

individual presenters passed themselves off as medical doctors when they were 

not. Accordingly, as 
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�D�Q�\���S�H�U�V�R�Q���Z�K�R���³�L�Q�W�H�Q�W�L�R�Q�D�O�O�\���W�D�U�J�H�W�V���D�Q���H�O�G�H�U�O�\���R�U���G�L�V�D�E�O�H�G���S�H�U�V�R�Q�´���Z�K�H�Q���X�V�L�Q�J���D��

computer or computer network  to violate the GFBPA. See O.C.G.A. § 10-1-393.5.   

Based on the record evidence presented, the Court cannot find that 

�'�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�V�� �³�L�Q�W�H�Q�W�L�R�Q�D�O�O�\�� �W�D�U�J�H�W�H�G�´�� �H�O�G�H�U�O�\�� �R�U�� �G�L�V�D�E�O�H�G�� �F�R�Q�V�X�P�H�U�V�� �X�V�L�Q�J�� �D��

computer or computer network sufficient to assess the higher $10,000 per 

violation penalties. The State of Georgia relies on two pieces of evidence to 

demonstrate that Defendants intentionally targeted elderly consumers. The first is 

�D���G�R�F�X�P�H�Q�W���W�K�D�W���R�X�W�O�L�Q�H�V���W�K�H���S�X�U�S�R�V�H���R�I���W�K�H���V�H�P�L�Q�D�U�V���D�Q�G���V�W�D�W�H�V���W�K�D�W���³�>g]iven that 

our target demographic for stem cells is more in the older age range, the quietness 

of the room is not only crucial to the professionalism of our practice, but also for 

�R�X�U�� �P�R�U�H�� �H�O�G�H�U�O�\�� �S�D�W�L�H�Q�W�V�� �W�R�� �E�H�� �D�E�O�H�� �W�R�� �K�H�D�U�� �Z�K�D�W�� �L�V�� �E�H�L�Q�J�� �V�D�L�G���� ���� ���´�� ���3�X�U�Sose of 

Seminar, Doc. 75-17). The second piece of evidence is an email from Defendant 

Peyroux in which he asks an employee to reschedule a marketing blast so that it 

�G�R�H�V���Q�R�W���I�D�O�O���R�Q���H�O�H�F�W�L�R�Q���G�D�\���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���³�>�H�@�O�H�F�W�L�R�Q���G�D�\���L�V���Y�H�U�\���E�L�J���D�Q�G���W�K�D�W���L�V���D�O�O���R�O�G��

peopl�H���K�D�Y�H���O�H�I�W���L�Q���O�L�I�H���W�R���G�R���´�����3�H�\�U�R�X�[���(�O�H�F�W�L�R�Q���'�D�\���(�P�D�L�O�����'�R�F��������-15).  

No doubt these emails show some desire to target the elderly in the overall 

scheme. And it is true that the group of consumers involved here includes almost 

exclusively elderly and disabled individuals, resulting from the nature of the 

products at issue. But the evidence also indicates that Defendants advertised their 

stem cell therapies to any and all comers. The State has not pointed to enough 

significant evidence proving the requisite level of intent such that the Court would 

feel comfortable imposing th ese heightened penalties. The State has also not tied 
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the alleged broad targeting of the elderly specifically to the use of a computer 

network, as the statute contemplates. Beyond this, the Court is also concerned that 

any higher civil penalty amounts would be overly punitive under the 

circumstances. So even if the Court found that the evidence sufficiently 

demonstrated that Defendants intentionally targeted elderly individuals  

specifically through the use of computer networks, it would not order enhanced 

penalties, as it has already issued significant civil penalties as well as restitution.   

In ordering the above amount in civil penalties, the Court has considered the 

�5�H�D�G�H�U�¶�V���'�L�J�H�V�W factors. Again, those factors are: (1) the good or bad faith of the 

�G�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�V�������������W�K�H���L�Q�M�X�U�\���W�R���W�K�H���S�X�E�O�L�F�������������W�K�H���G�H�I�H�Q�G�D�Q�W�V�¶���D�E�L�O�L�W�\���W�R���S�D�\�������������W�K�H��

desire to eliminate the benefits derived by a violation; and (5) the necessity of 

vindicating the authority of the regulatory agency. �5�H�D�G�H�U�¶�V���'�L�J�H�V�W���$�V�V�¶�Q�����,�Q�F., 662 

F.2d at 967. 

Considering the first factor, the record demonstrates that Defendants acted 

in bad faith. While promoting stem cell treatment, Defendants had no medical 

evidence that the stem cell therapies provided the promised benefits. Defendants 

sought to coerce consumers into paying for stem cell therapy at all costs. They did 

this through use of high-pressure tactics �²  including inundating vulnerable 

consumers with continued communications, preparing strategically crafted 

�U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�H�V�� �L�Q�W�H�Q�G�H�G�� �W�R�� �R�Y�H�U�F�R�P�H�� �F�X�V�W�R�P�H�U�V�¶��hesitancy to purchase stem cell 

therapies, and misrepresenting that the individuals giving the seminars were 
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$18,403,116.14, and that the Individual Defendants jointly received at least 



26 

severally) must pay civil penalties in the amount of $1,845 ,000 . The total amount 

Defendants must pay is $5,155,146 . See below: 

Basis for Payment  Amount  
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  IT IS SO ORDERED  this 26th day of December 2024.   
 
 

_______ _____________________  
     Honorable Amy Totenberg   

          United States District Judge   
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